APR 17 2015

COA Nos. 32596-2-III 32643-8-IIIXX

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Appellant,

VS.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WALLA WALLA COUNTY HONORABLE JOHN W. LOHRMANN

APPELLANT STEVEN P. KOZOL'S OPENING BRIEF (COA No. 32596-2-III)

STEVEN P. KOZOL Appellant/Plaintiff, Pro Per DOC# 974691 Stafford Creek Corr. Center 191 Constantine Way Aberdeen, WA 98520 (360)537-1800

www.FreeSteveKozol.com

ORIGINAL

INTRODUCTION

Under the Public Records Act, when a requestor submits same-subject follow-up requests to obtain silently withheld records responsive to the initial request, the statute of limitations accrues from the date of the agency's last response thereto.

Under the Public Records Act, an agency violates the Act by destroying oringinal responsive records after being specifically requested, but before the requestor has completed statutorily-permitted judicial review.

Under Civil Rule 41(a)(1)(B), once a plaintiff first moves for voluntary dismissal, the court must grant the dismissal, without prejudice.

When an agency's actions violate the Public Records Act, yet are not one of the two actions that trigger the one-year statute of limitations under RCW 42.56.550(6), a requestor, if seeking statutory penalties, has three years to bring suit under RCW 4.16.115.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in granting dismissal of Plaintiff's claims.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred in denying Plaintiff's motions for CR 42(a) consolidation or CR 41(a)(1)(B) dismissal.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1:

- Issue No. 1: Does the Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW, allow a defendant agency to impose a burdenshifting mechanism of a "show cause" procedure upon a plaintiff requestor?
- <u>Issue No. 2:</u> Whether Civil Rule 12(c) or summary judgment standard of review applies?
- <u>Issue No. 3</u>: Was there a <u>prima facie</u> showing that Defendant violated the Public Records Act?
- <u>Issue No. 4</u>: Did accrual of the statute of limitations begin from Defendant's response to Plaintiff's last samesubject follow-up request, rendering Plaintiff's claims timely?
- Issue No. 5: Did Defendant's 21 destructions of responsive records violate the Public Records Act, constituting additional claims, which were amended into the pleadings under CR 15(b), and begin accrual of the statute of limitations?
- <u>Issue No. 6:</u> Does the discovery rule apply to toll accrual of the statute of limitations in this case?
- <u>Issue No. 7:</u> Was there a genuine dispute of material fact that precluded summary judgment of Plaintiff's claims?

Assignment of Error No. 2:

<u>Issue No. 1:</u> Should the motion for consolidation have been granted?

<u>Issue No. 2:</u> Should the motion for voluntary dismissal have been granted without prejudice upon amendment of claims?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 8, 2011, Plaintiff submitted 22 separate

Public Records Act requests to Defendant seeking any and
all records of 22 different, individually numbered grievances
filed at the Washington State Penitentiary in Walla Walla,
Washington. 1 Each request specifically asked for the original
grievance/complaint form. CP 630-50; CP 256-77. All 22
requests were mailed to Defendant in the same envelope.

CP 757.

Plaintiff initially submitted 22 separate requests. He filed suit upon one of the requests, No. PDU-15229 on April 5, 2012 (GR3.1) upon learning by a page-count discrepancy that Defendant had not produced at least one responsive page. Supp. CP _____ (Deposition of Steven P. Kozol). That action, Kozol v. WDOC, WWCSC No. 12-2-00285-2, is also under appeal, COA No. 32643-8-III, and review of these two appeals has been consolidated. Because all request correspondence submitted by Plaintiff pertained to 53 requests, this factual recitation refers to 22 requests for purposes of this case.

On April 19, 2011, DOC employee Debra Tracy sent an email to DOC employee Lee Young requesting that she conduct a search at the Washington State Penitentiary for a request seeking "Any and all documents related to each of the following Grievances (22)," as requested by Plaintiff. CP 748-49. The same day, Lee Young "sent a response attaching scanned copies of all 22 complete grievance packets." CP 743.

On April 22, 2011, Defendant issued 22 separate initial responses assigning sequential tracking numbers PDU-15229 to PDU-15250. In each response Defendant expressly confirmed that Plaintiff sought the original complaint/grievance form. ² CP 282-302, 651-71.

On June 16, 2011, June 24, 2011, and June 28, 2011, Defendant issued 22 separate letters, each identifying the number of responsive pages and cost estimate. Each of these 22 letters again confirmed that Plaintiff had requested the original grievance/complaint form. CP 304-24, 672-92.

On December 8, 2011, Plaintiff sent a letter to Defendant asking for all responsive records in requests nos. PDU-15229 to PDU-15250 to be emailed to his personal email account in the community: StevenKozolIsInnocent@gmail.com. CP 326, 693.

Defendant refused in discovery in the companion case to produce a copy of its April 22, 2011 response to request no. PDU-15229 (grievance#1017109).

Defendant then sent what it purported to be all responsive records for all 22 requests to Plaintiff via a series of emails dated January 3, 2013, January 9, 2012, January 31, 2012, February 16, 2012, and February 23, 2012. Again, Defendant confirmed in these letters that each of Plaintiff's 22 requests sought the original complaint/grievance form. CP 95-132, 330-71, 372, 695-732.

Plaintiff had the emailed records printed out and forwarded to his attorney, Michael C. Kahrs. It took several months of conferring with his attorney, but Plaintiff eventually learned through conversations with his attorney that the Defendant had not identified or produced all responsive pages in all 22 requests. Supp. CP ______ (Deposition of Steven P. Kozol).

On March 25, 2013, Plaintiff sent a follow-up letter to Defendant through its counsel of record, notifying the Defendant of multiple "silent withholdings" of records responsive to 53 of Plaintiff's requests. CP 603. On April 10, 2013, Defendant's counsel sent a letter responding to Plaintiff's March 25, 2013 follow-up request, wherein the Defendant requested to be provided with proof of the "silent withholdings". CP 603.

³ Plaintiff had already initiated litigation against Defendant as to one of these requests, no. PDU-15229, so additional correspondence was sent to Defendant's counsel of record who had already entered a notice of appearance in the companion case, WCSC No. 12-2-00285-2.

On April 12, 2013, Plaintiff sent a follow-up request letter to Defendant's counsel specifically identifying responsive record pages that appeared to be silently withheld in 53 of Plaintiff's requests. CP 603-04. On May 2, 2013, Plaintiff sent a follow-up request letter to Defendant's counsel seeking confirmation of receipt of Plaintiff's April 22, 2013 follow-up request that identified the silently withheld record pages in each request. CP 604.

On May 19, 2013, Plaintiff sent another follow-up request letter to Defendant's counsel notifying Defendant that it had still not provided Plaintiff with any of the silently withheld records identified in prior follow-up request letters. CP 604. On June 6, 2013, Plaintiff sent another follow-up request letter to Defendant's counsel as notice that none of the identified silently-withheld records had been provided. CP 604.

On June 11, 2013, Plaintiff sent another follow-up request letter to Defendant's counsel notifying the Department that it was continually failing to provide any of the identified responsive records that it had silently withheld in responding to Plaintiff's requests. CP 604. On July 2, 2013, Defendant's counsel sent a letter to Plaintiff declining to resolve the issues of silently withheld records to avoid litigation. The letter failed to offer to provide, or address to any degree, the 53 identified silently withheld responsive records. CP 604.

On July 5, 2013, Plaintiff sent a letter to Defendant's counsel notifying the Department that the ongoing failure to provide the identified silently-withheld responsive records contributed to the agency's bad faith in these matters.

CP 605. On November 22, 2013, Plaintiff sent another follow-up request letter to Defendant, again identifying specific responsive records being silently withheld in response to his 53 requests. CP 605.

Having received no response to his November 27, 2013 letter, Plaintiff filed an action on December 15, 2013 (GR 3.1), bringing 21 claims of violations of the Public Records Act. CP 605, 607. After filing suit, Plaintiff received a December 12, 2013 response letter Defendant had mailed to reply to Plaintiff's last follow-up request. CP 789.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 30, 2014, the Defendant filed its Answer.

CP 609-14. On April 16, 2014, the Defendant filed a motion
to "show cause", seeking to require Plaintiff to establish
proof that the PRA was violated. In its motion, Defendant
argued that Plaintiff's 21 claims were time-barred under

RCW 42.56.550(6), and argued that it did not violate the

PRA. Defendant also sought a finding that Plaintiff's claims
were frivolous, and as a result it was entitled to an award
of costs and fees. CP 615-23.

On April 26, 2014, Plaintiff filed (GR 3.1) a motion for CR 42(a) consolidation and/or CR 41(a)(1)(B) dismissal, in which he sought to either consolidate the instant 21 claims with the related single-claim action, <u>Kozol v. WDOC</u>, WWCSC No. 12-2-00285-2, or, to voluntarily dismiss these 21 claims without prejudice pending their CR 15 amendment into Case No. 12-2-00285-2. CP 750-58.

On May 3, 2013, Plaintiff filed (GR 3.1) an opposition to the show cause motion, in which he argued that: (a) a defendant agency does not have standing/ability to employ a burden-shifting mechanism of a show-cause motion against a plaintiff requestor; (b) there existed a <u>prima facie</u> showing that the PRA was violated; (c) the numerous follow-up request letters tolled accrual of any statute of limitations; and (d) the Defendant's statute of limitations argument was moot in light of Plaintiff's pending motion to consolidate or dismiss, and the motion to amend filed in Case No. 12-2-00285-2. CP 759-71.

On May 12, 2014, the Superior Court heard Defendant's motion on show cause, Plaintiff's CR 42(a) motion for consolidation and CR 41(a) motion to dismiss, all without oral argument. The court entered an order denying Plaintiff's motions for consolidation and dismissal, and granted Defendant's motion for show cause/dismissal. CP 809-11.

On May 17, 2014, Plaintiff timely filed and served a CR 59 motion for reconsideration. CP 812-20. Plaintiff then filed and served an amended CR 59 motion for reconsideration on May 26, 2014. CP 821-34. Defendant filed its response to the CR 59 motion on June 2, 2014. CP 835-41. Plaintiff filed his reply on the motion for reconsideration on June 5, 2014. CP 842-65. On June 19, 2014, the court conducted a hearing on reconsideration. RP 3. On June 19, 2014, the court signed an order denying Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. CP 866.

ARGUMENT

- A. The Trial Court Erred in Granting
 Dismissal of Plaintiff's PRA Claims
- 1. RCW 42.56.550 does not permit a defendant agency to shift the statutory burden upon a plaintiff requestor to prove a PRA violation occurred

Defendant brought its motion to show cause under RCW 42.56.550. CP 615. However, RCW 42.56.550 expressly places the burden upon the agency to prove it did not violate the PRA. While other mechanisms exist under the statute for an agency to enjoin disclosure, e.g., RCW 42.56.540, RCW 42.56.565(2)(a), they, too, still place the burden of proof upon the agency. CP 762.

Defendant's motion under RCW 42.56.550 improperly shifted the burden upon Plaintiff to show that the agency violated the PRA. Accordingly, Plaintiff moved to strike the "show cause" motion. CP 794. The trial court erred as a matter of law in not striking the motion, as there was no discretion involved: it could not place the burden of proof upon Plaintiff. It was error to enter the order granting Defendant's motion that expressly shifted the burden onto Plaintiff.

2. CR 12(c) / summary judgment standard of review

In its May 12, 2014 Decision and Order, the trial court classified Respondent's motion to show cause as "essentially a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss." CP 810.

Appellate courts review a CR 12(c) dismissal <u>de novo</u>.

PE Systems LLC v. CPI Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198, 203, 289 P.3d

638 (2012).

A trial court can consider materials outside the pleadings presented by both the moving and nonmoving party in a CR 12 motion. Kelley v. Pierce County, 179 Wn.App. 566, 319 P.3d 74, 77 (2014); see St. Yves v. Mid State Bank, 111 Wn.2d 374, 377, 757 P.2d 1384 (1988)(court considered evidence outside pleadings in deciding CR 12 motion); Hope v. Larry's Markets, 108 Wn.App. 185, 29 P.3d 1268 (2001)(same); PE Systems, 164 Wn.App. at 364 (same).

⁴ Such a motion, absent improper burden-shifting, would technically be a CR 12(c) motion in light of Defendant's Answer. CP 609-14. However, both are reviewed under the identical standard. PE Systems, 176 Wn.2d at 203.

"In some cases, a party moving to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6), or responding to such a motion, will need to present evidence outside the pleadings. The parties may do so, but the motion then becomes essentially a motion for summary judgment, and will be treated as such by the court. CR 12(b)."

Karl B. Tegland, 3A Washington Practice - Rules Practice: CR 12 (6th ed. 2013) p. 2929.

Because the trial court's May 12, 2014 order indicated it considered the declaration filed by Defendant (CP 810), the motion was to be converted to a motion for summary judgment. Thus, on review the burden of proof is required to be on the Defendant, and all evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, with all questions of law reviewed de novo. Berrocal v. Fernandez, 155 Wn.2d 585, 590, 121 P.3d 82 (2005).

3. There was a prima facie showing Defendant violated the PRA

As fully detailed in the companion briefing, there was substantial proof that Defendant violated the PRA. Absent a claimed exemption, Defendant was required to identify and produce the requested original (double-sided) grievance/complaint forms in their entirety, as they were identifiable public records. Defendant silently withheld responsive records. Defendant failed to conduct an adequate search. Defendant failed to provide the fullest assistance. Defendant unlawfully destroyed responsive records. Defendant

wrongfully modified the records requests without Plaintiff's consent. See COA No. 32643-8-III, Opening Brief of Appellant, at 27-40.

4. Plaintiff's 21 claims were not time-barred, because same-subject matter follow-up request letters, or Defendant's responses thereto, commenced accrual of the statute of limitations

In its motion to show cause, the Defendant argued that Plaintiff's 21 claims (PDU-15230 to PDU-15250) were time-barred because they were beyond the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6), and beyond the two-year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.130. CP 617-19. The Defendant is incorrect.

As pled in the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiff submitted no less than 8 same-subject matter follow-up requests to Defendant specifically identifying that the original "DOC 05-165 Back" pages of the grievance forms were not produced, and requesting they be produced. These follow-up requests, and the Defendant's responses thereto spanned from March 25, 2013 to November 22, 2013. CP 603-05. Defendant admitted to these follow-up requests and responses thereto. CP 609-14. Further, Plaintiff eventually received a December 12, 2013 response from Defendant to his November 27, 2013 follow-up request. CP 788-89.

While Defendant argued that Plaintiff's 21 claims were time-barred under the Division Two Court of Appeals' holding in <u>Bartz v. Department of Corrections</u>, 173 Wn.App. 522, 536, 297 P.3d 737 (2013), such reliance is misplaced, as the specific holding does not apply to the facts of the instant case. In <u>Bartz</u>, the requestor did not submit a series of same-subject follow-up requests to effectuate disclosure before having to resort to litigation.

Under the Division Two Court of Appeals' holding in Johnson v. Department of Corrections, 164 Wn.App. 769, 265 P.3d 216 (2011), Plaintiff's action is not time-barred, as any statute of limitations "began to run when prisoner received letter from DOC on his follow-up request."

Appendix A.

Johnson is strikingly similar to the instant case, as the requestor in Johnson submitted an initial record request dated August 21, 2006, followed by three follow-up requests dated September 10, 2006, October 19, 2006, and March 27, 2007. Johnson, 164 Wn.App. at 771-74. The follow-up letters were "requesting the same information he had requested" in the previous letter, id., at 772, and were "apparently a request for the same documents he had requested originally" but felt had been withheld. Id., at 773.

While the agency issued responses to each of Johnson's four letters, the Division Two Court ultimately ruled that the latest possible date on which Johnson's action accrued was one week after (to allow 5 days for mailing) the agency's August 27, 2007 response to Johnson's last same-subject matter follow-up request. Johnson, 164 Wn.App. at 778-79.

Therefore, under <u>Johnson</u>, when a requestor submits additional follow-up request(s) to an agency in an ongoing attempt to obtain records that are responsive to the initial request, the accrual of the one-year statute of limitations under RCW 42.56.550(6), or the two-year "catch-all" period in RCW 4.16.130, does not begin until (1) the agency last responds to the requestor's last follow-up request, or (2) from the date the agency should have received the requestor's last same-subject follow-up request, to which there was no agency response.⁵

Here, as sometimes occurs in PRA cases, the request and response correspondence exchanged between Plaintiff and Defendant extended beyond the date that the Defendant now claims it first made the records available. Defendant contends that statutory accrual commenced in June 2011.

CP 119. However, this calculation is misguided because it selectively relies on an incomplete dateline representation.

⁵ In actuality, the court in <u>Johnson</u>, and ostensibly <u>Tobin v. Worden</u>, 156 Wn.App. 507, 233 P.3d 906 (2010), misapplied ROW 4.16.130. In the event agency action does not trigger the one-year period in 42.56.550(6), the correct statute of limitations is ROW 4.16.115, if seeking penalties under the PRA. See infra.

Because it required 8 follow-up request letters to Defendant, seeking pages responsive to the initial request(s), and ultimately commencement of litigation before Defendant, for the first time, identified the pages and refused to produce them, the follow-up requests were a necessary continuation and integral part of the initial requests.

This Court should continue to implement judicial oversight aligned with the best interest of the public whom the PRA was designed to serve, and either find <u>Johnson</u> controls, or render a similar holding. Not only is this sound policy and in accordance with the purpose of the PRA, but it essentially dovetails with the existing applications of the discovery rule, which as discussed below in this brief, tolls the date of accrual "until the plaintiff knew or, through exercise of due diligence, should have known all the facts necessary to establish a legal claim." <u>Martin</u> v. Dematic, 178 Wn.App. 646, 659, 315 P.3d 1126 (2013).

As in Plaintiff's case here, often a requestor must employ several follow-up requests before all responsive records are identified. Here, Defendant without question silently withheld responsive record pages, yet it was not until Plaintiff initiated litigation that Defendant was compelled to identify the silently withheld records, and the fact that they had been unlawfully destroyed some 20 months after they were initially requested.

Because the only way, aside from bringing suit, for Plaintiff to know what further responsive records the Defendant had was for him to submit follow-up requests, this Court adopting the holding in <u>Johnson</u>, or one similar, would align with existing discovery rule principles, as Plaintiff's follow-up requests constitute his "exercising due diligence" where he "lacked the means or ability to ascertain that a legal cause of action accrued." <u>Martin</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Therefore, either <u>Johnson</u> controls, or, based upon the above similar companion principles, Plaintiff asks this Court to hold that the Defendant's last response to his last same-subject follow-up request began accrual of any statute of limitations. This accrual date would be approximately 5 days after Defendant mailed its December 12, 2013 response letter. ⁶ CP 789.

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