FILED Jun 11, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32596-2-III NO. 32532-6-III CONSOLIDATED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FREGUSON Attorney General

CANDIE M. DIBBLE, WSBA #42279 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division, OID #91025 1116 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 Telephone: (509) 456-3123 E-Mail: CandieD@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

This Public Records Act (PRA) case involves prisoner Steven Kozol's 22 individual requests for separate offender grievance records. The Washington State Department of Corrections (hereinafter "the Department") properly responded to each request by providing Kozol with the responsive record in its possession.

The offender grievance form is a single document with a front and back page. The front page of the form contains a place for the offender to state the grievance, and for the Department to write its response to the grievance. The back page of the form is simply boilerplate instructions on how to complete the front page of the form. The Department's standard practice is to scan and maintain only the front page of the completed forms. The Department does not retain the back page, and it does not consider the back instructional page to be part of the offender's grievance record.

Kozol submitted 22 separate requests to the Department. Each request asked for a copy of an individual grievance. The Department timely responded to each request by providing Kozol with the requested grievance as maintained by the Department. As part of its responses, the Department provided the front page of each requested grievance form. Kozol later filed these actions, asserting the Department violated the PRA

by not providing him with the back page of the grievance forms. The trial court found Kozol failed to file some of his claims within the applicable statute of limitations and dismissed the remaining claims for failure to state a claim under the PRA. Because Kozol's claims are untimely and he does not show a violation of the PRA, the Court should affirm the dismissal of his claims.¹

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

Under the Department's Grievance Program, offenders can file complaints related to multiple issues. CP 752. An offender initiates a grievance using the form DOC 05-165, Offender Complaint form. CP 752. The offender writes the grievance on the front page of the form. CP 752. The back page of the form simply provides boilerplate instructions on how to fill out the front page of the form. CP 745-746.

After the Department has received and responded to an offender grievance, the grievance coordinator scans and maintains a copy of the front page of the grievance form as required by DOC Policy 550.100. CP 743. None of the information on the back page of the grievance form is used to process the offender's grievance and it is not considered to be part of the grievance record. Therefore, the grievance coordinator does not

¹ Although Kozol was granted approval to file two separate briefs to address each case individually, the Department will address all issues in one response brief.

scan and maintain the back page of the form as part of the official grievance record. CP 743.

On April 15, 2011, the Department's Public Disclosure Unit received 22 separate requests from Kozol for records related to 22 individual offender grievances. CP 140, 630-650. Five business days later, the Department issued a response letter indicating his requests were assigned tracking numbers PDU 15229 through PDU 15250. CP 9, 175, 651-671. Kozol was also informed he would receive a response to his requests on or before June 28, 2011. CP 651-671.

Because the grievances were filed at the Washington State Penitentiary, the request for all responsive records was sent to the Washington State Penitentiary's grievance coordinator to gather documents responsive to the 22 separate requests. CP 748-749. The grievance coordinator responded by attaching scanned copies of the front page of all of the 22 requested grievance forms as part of the offender grievance record. CP 748. The back instruction page, which was not considered part of the grievance or maintained by the Department, was not included in the responsive documents. CP 743.

On June 16, 2011, June 24, 2011 and June 28, 2011, the Department issued Kozol three letters indicating documents responsive to his requests were identified, available and he would be provided copies of

the records upon receipt of payment. CP 9, 672-692. More than five months later, the Department received a response letter from Kozol requesting each response be emailed separately to StevenKozolIsInnocent@gmail.com. CP 693. The Department acknowledged Kozol's email receipt request. CP 694. On January 3, 2012, the Department emailed the responsive documents StevenKozolIsInnocent@gmail.com and informed him his requests were closed. CP 695-738. Four of those emails included exemption logs citing information which was redacted. CP 616. Several weeks later, Kozol asked for written confirmation the requests had been emailed. CP 739. The Department sent written confirmation on February 29, 2012. CP 740. There were no additional records provided to Kozol after the Department sent the records on January 3, 2012.

Kozol then sent several letters to the Department's counsel complaining of "multiple silent withholdings." CP 604-605. Kozol eventually sent a letter directly to the Department in November 2013, more than 18 months after he received the requested records, alleging the Department withheld records in response to his 22 requests. CP 605. The Department sent an acknowledgement to his letter on December 12, 2013. CP 789.

Subsequently, Kozol filed a new public disclosure request with the Department, seeking specifically the "back page of the grievance forms" from grievances filed at the Washington State Penitentiary. In response to that request, Kozol was provided with the back page of grievance forms. Appendix A, Attachments 1-2². Several of the pages contained writing with names of the grievance coordinators and/or codes including W-40. Appendix A, Attachments 1-2. Most offenders at the Washington State Penitentiary have access to a locked grievance box in their housing unit in which to place their grievances. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. However, offenders housed in the Intensive Management Unit do not have access to a grievance box. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. In order to facilitate the processing on their grievances, the grievance documents are collected directly from the offender. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. At times, an offender may fold his grievance in half, causing the "back page" of the grievance to become the outside/envelope of the grievance. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. The collecting staff member may write the grievance office mailbox number "W40" or the grievance officer's name on the outside of the grievance to ensure the grievance is delivered to the grievance office for

² On May 27, 2015, the Commissioner granted Kozol's request to submit additional evidence. Kozol's additional evidence is referred to as Appendix A (see Kozol's opening brief COA No. 32643-8-III). The Department's additional responsive evidence is referred to as Exhibit 1 with Attachments (see Department's Response to Kozol's RAP 9.11 Motion for Additional Evidence on Review).

processing. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. This information is not deemed to be relevant to the grievance complaint itself and would not be used to investigate the offender's complaint. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. Nor would the fact that the grievance mailbox number or the grievance officer's name be maintained for any purpose related to the offender's grievance complaint. Exhibit 1, Attachment C. The back page of the grievance is not scanned and saved for use in maintaining the offender's grievance record and the grievance coordinator would not consider it to be responsive to a request for a copy of an offender's grievance packet. Exhibit 1, Attachment C.

B. Statement of Procedural History

1. Kozol v. DOC, Walla Walla Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-00285-2

During his ongoing correspondence with Department's counsel, on July 18, 2012, Kozol filed a PRA Complaint alleging failure to respond within the time frames of the PRA and "silent withholding" of records. CP 3-4. After the Department's request for a more definite statement, Kozol filed his First Amended Complaint noting his claim was solely related to his request under the Department's tracking number PDU-15229. CP 8-9. Sixteen months later, Kozol moved to amend his Complaint to add the remaining 21 requests for offender grievances from

the Washington State Penitentiary as well as another 31 separate PRA requests Kozol had filed with the Department seeking grievance records for offender grievances filed at the Airway Heights Corrections Center and Stafford Creek Corrections Center. CP 14-55. The Department objected and the trial court denied the motion to amend the Complaint. CP 56-68, 89, 95, 108. Kozol subsequently filed two additional motions to amend his complaint to only add the 21 requests for offender grievances at the Washington State Penitentiary and a motion to consolidate his claims with his case under Kozol v. DOC, Walla Walla Superior Court Cause No. 13-2-00938-8. CP 174-228, 464-479. The trial court denied Kozol's motions. CP 237-239.

Kozol then moved for partial summary judgment. CP 109-127, 240-404. The Department filed a cross motion for summary judgment arguing Kozol failed to state claim under the PRA as the back page of the grievance form was not responsive to his request. CP 410-452. The trial court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment, noting Kozol's complaint was frivolous and malicious as the request for records was a "scheme" that Kozol set up knowing he would not receive the back page of the grievance form in response to his request. CP 570-572, 596-600.

2. Kozol v. DOC, Walla Walla Superior Court Cause No. 13-2-00938-8

After his first motion to amend in the above case was denied, on December 18, 2013, Kozol filed another PRA Complaint alleging wrongful withholding of the additional 21 records for his requests under PDU-15230 through PDU-15250. CP 601-607. The Department then moved to show cause, asserting Kozol's claims were time barred, he failed to show a violation of the PRA, and his claims were also frivolous. CP 615-749. Kozol then filed a motion to consolidate this case with his other pending PRA matter. CP 750-758. Kozol also filed his opposition to the Department's show cause motion. CP 759-804. The trial court denied Kozol's motion to consolidate his cases and granted the Department's show cause motion. CP 809-811. In its ruling, the trial court noted Kozol's claims were barred by the statute of limitations and Kozol failed to state a claim under the PRA because the back page of the grievance form would not be responsive to his request. CP 810. Kozol's Complaint was dismissed with prejudice and also deemed to be frivolous and malicious. CP 811, 866.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews challenges to agency actions under the PRA *de novo*. City of Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 217 P.3d 1172

(2009); *Mechling v. City of Monroe*, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808, (2009), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1007, 236 P.3d 206 (2010). Appellate courts stand in the same position as the trial courts when the record on a show cause motion consists only of affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence. *Mitchell v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 164 Wn. App. 597, 602, 277 P.3d 670 (2011), *as amended on reconsideration in part*.

The appellate court will not overturn a decision to deny an amendment unless it finds a showing of manifest abuse of discretion. Wilson v. Horsley, 137 Wn.2d 500, 505, 974 P.2d 316 (1999). However, the standard of review for Civil Rule 15(c) determinations is de novo. Martin v. Dematic, 340 P.3d 834 (2014).

IV. ARGUMENT³

A. Kozol's 21 Claims Related to PDU-15230 through PDU-15250 Were Barred by the Statute of Limitations

The trial court correctly held Kozol's claims were barred by the statute of limitations because Kozol's ongoing "follow-up" letters to the Department did not toll the statute of limitations. The clear statutory

³ While Kozol stated several "issues" in his opening brief, the Department is only addressing those issues for which Kozol presented argument. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). Because Kozol failed to present any argument related to several issues, he waived any assignment of error and cannot "cure" the defect by addressing the issues in his reply brief. *Id.* citing *Sacco v. Sacco*, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990).

language of RCW 42.56.550(6) defines precisely when a cause of action accrues under the PRA and requires actions to be filed "within one year of the agency's claim of exemption or the last production of a record on a partial installment basis." Production of a single set of records also triggers the one year statute of limitations under RCW 42.56.550(6). *Bartz v. State Dept. of Corrections Public Disclosure Unit*, 173 Wn. App. 522, 536, 297 P.3d 737 (2013).

In Kozol's second case, the Department identified the responsive records under PDU-15230 through PDU-15250 and made them available to him on June 16, 2011, June 24, 2011 and June 28, 2011. CP 9, 672-692. Over 29 months later, Kozol filed his lawsuit on December 18, 2013, claiming "silent withholding" of records responsive to the 21 requests. Kozol's claims were untimely as he was required to file his claims no later than June 16, 2012, June 24, 2012 and June 28, 2012. RCW 42.56.550(6). In the alternative, his claims expired on June 16, 2013, June 14, 2013 and June 28, 2013. RCW 4.16.130. However Kozol's initial Complaint was filed well beyond both the one year statute of limitations and alternatively the "catch-all" two year statute of limitations thereby making his claims time-barred under both RCW 42.56.550(6) and RCW 4.16.130. Any attempt by Kozol to manipulate the tolling of his PRA claims should be disfavored and goes against the Legislative intent of the PRA.

Washington courts have long held that statutes of limitations begin to run against a cause of action on the date the plaintiff first becomes entitled to seek relief in the courts. E.g., Jones v. Jacobson, 45 Wn.2d 265, 269, 273 P.2d 979 (1954); Huff v. Roach, 125 Wn. App. 724, 729, 106 P.3d 268 (2005), review denied 155 Wn.2d 1023, 126 P.3d 1279 (2005). Both the United States Supreme Court and the Washington Supreme Court recognize that statutes of limitations are intended to provide finality. Reading Co. v. Koons, 271 U.S. 58, 63, 46 S. Ct. 405, 70 L. Ed. 835 (1926); Atchison v. Great Western Malting Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 382, 166 P.3d 662 (2007). The "obvious" purpose of such statutes is to set a definite limitation upon the time available to bring an action, without consideration of the otherwise underlying merit. Dodson v. Continental Can Co., 159 Wash. 589, 594, 294 P. 265 (1930) (quoting *Reading Co.*, 271 U.S. 58). Statutes of limitations exist "to shield defendants and the judicial system from stale claims;" plaintiffs are not permitted to "sleep on their rights" because of the risk that "evidence may be lost and witnesses' memories may fade." Crisman v. Crisman, 85 Wn. App. 15, 19, 931 P.2d 163 (1997), review denied 132 Wn.2d 1008, 940 P.2d 653 (1997).

Statutes of limitations are strictly applied, and courts are reluctant to find an exception unless one is clearly articulated by the Legislature. *E.g.*, *Huff*, 125 Wn. App. at 732; *Bennett v. Dalton*, 120 Wn. App. 74, 85-

86, 84 P.3d 265 (2004); Janicki Logging & Construction Company, Inc. v. Schwabe, Williamson & Wyatt, P.C., 109 Wn. App. 655, 662, 37 P.3d 309 (2001), review denied 146 Wn.2d 1019, 51 P.3d 88 (2002). Washington courts have also consistently rejected interpretations that would allow a party to manipulate the date an action accrues or the tolling of a statute of limitations. E.g., Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 381-82 (choice of personal representative should not be allowed to govern accrual of wrongful death action); Huff, 125 Wn. App. at 732 (rejecting an interpretation that would allow manipulation of accrual of legal malpractice claims). This is particularly true in cases governed by explicit statutory directives such as the PRA and not by the common law. See Elliott v. Dep't of Labor and *Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 442, 447, 213 P.3d 44 (2009) (declining to apply the discovery rule to modify the accrual date of an industrial insurance claim where the plain language of the statute specified that a claim had to be brought within one year of the injury/accident).

The purpose of the PRA is to provide a mechanism by which citizens can obtain information about the functions of government. The penalty and cost provisions in RCW 42.56.550(4) provide a significant incentive to agencies to comply with the very strict requirements of the PRA. The one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) ensures that actions are filed timely to serve the goal of prompt public disclosure

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